IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA FILED

MODE WHATE

AUG 20 1996

CLERAL DURINGS COURT

By

Cha being Back

COUNTY OF BREVARD, a Political subdivision of the State of Florida,

Petitioner,

v.

MIORELLI ENGINEERING, INC., and HARTFORD FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondents.

case no.: 78,842

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

Hala A. Sandridge, Esquire FOWLER, WHITE, GILLEN, BOGGS, VILLAREAL AND BANKER, P.A. Post Office Box 1438 Tampa, Florida 33601 (813) 228-7411 Florida Bar No.: 0454362 Attorneys for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

As its statement of the case and facts, Petitioner, the County of Brevard, hereby adopts by reference the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in this matter. $(A.1-2)^{1/2/}$ The relevant portions of the Fifth District's opinion is as follows:

On January 5, 1993, Miorelli Engineering ("MEI") contracted with Brevard County to construct a spring training facility for the Florida Marlins. . . A dispute subsequently arose between the county and MEI, and the county terminated MEI as contractor and withheld the remaining amounts due under the contract. MEI then filed suit against the county seeking to recover those withheld amounts, as well as payment for extra work.

The county filed a motion for summary judgment based in part on the sovereign immunity defense.

The county asserts that MEI cannot bring suit to recover damages for the additional work, since that extra work was not contemplated by the written contract and no written change orders were issued authorizing the extra work as required by the contract. Although there is no explicit legislative waiver of sovereign immunity in contract, the Supreme Court of Florida found an implied waiver, reasoning that since the legislature authorizes entities of the state to enter into a contract, it clearly intends that such contracts be valid and binding on both parties. See Pan Am Tobacco Corp. v. Dept of Corrections, 471 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1984). The supreme court, though, limited their holding to suits on express, written contracts. Their opinion left open the question as to whether the waiver of sovereign immunity would extend to implied conditions of written contracts.

The Petitioner, County of Brevard, will be referred to as the "County." The Respondent, Miorelli Engineering, Inc. will be referred to as ("MEI").

All references to the Appendix on appeal will be referred to by the symbol "A." followed by the appropriate page number from the Appendix.

The Second District Court of Appeal, relying on Pan Am, held that a contractor's claims for additional costs against a county would be barred by sovereign immunity where the additional costs were not addressed in the original written contract nor in any subsequent written See Southern Roadbuilders, Inc. v. Lee instrument. County, 495 So. 2d 189 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986), rev. denied, 504 So. 2d 768 (Fla. 1987). On the other hand, the Fourth District Court of Appeal adopted a more expansive interpretation of Pan Am. In Champagne-Webber, Inc. v. City of Fort Lauderdale, 519 So. 2d 696 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), the plaintiff contractor sought additional compensation from the city, alleging the city's breach of express and implied covenants within the scope of an express, written contract. The fourth district noted that the supreme court in Pan Am did not indicate that it intended to change established principles of contract The fourth district further noted that virtually every contract contains implied covenants and conditions, including an implied covenant that the parties will The fourth district found it perform in good faith. illogical to construe the restrictive language of Pan Am to abrogate the defense of sovereign immunity to only express conditions of written contracts, while refusing to allow the sovereign to be sued for breach of implied conditions within the same contract. The fourth district held that where suit is brought on an express, written contract entered into by a state agency under statutory authority, the defense of sovereign immunity does not protect the state agency from an action arising out of a breach of either an express or implied covenant or condition of that contract. <u>See also Interamerican</u> Engineers and Constructors Corp. v. Palm Beach County Housing Authority, 629 So. 2d 879 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993), rev. denied, 639 So. 2d 980 (Fla. 1994); Phillips and Jordan, Inc. v. Dep't of Transportation, 602 So. 2d 1310, 1313 n.2 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992).

We agree with the fourth district's view in <u>Champagne-Webber, Inc.</u>, with regard to the abrogation of sovereign immunity in breach of contract actions. In this case, there was a written contract, and the suit is based on the express and implied covenants of that contract, including the implied covenant to act in good faith. . . Although the written contract between the county and MEI indicated that the project was not to be modified without written change orders. . .[t]hese contract claims based on breach of the implied covenants of good faith and fair dealing should not be barred by sovereign immunity, and the trial court was correct in denying the motion for summary judgment as to these claims.

AFFIRMED IN PART, REVERSED IN PART; REMANDED. (A.1)

Upon receipt of this opinion, the County filed a Motion for Clarification and Certification. (A.2) The Fifth District denied the motion. (A.3) This timely appeal followed. (A.4)

JURISDICTION ISSUES

- I. WHETHER AN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT EXISTS BETWEEN THE FIFTH AND SECOND DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL BECAUSE THE FORMER HOLDS THAT THE DOCTRINE OF SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY HAS BEEN WAIVED WITH RESPECT TO THE ENFORCEMENT OF IMPLIED COVENANTS OF AN EXPRESS WRITTEN CONTRACT.
- II. WHETHER AN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT EXISTS BETWEEN THE FIFTH AND FIRST DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL BECAUSE THE FORMER HOLDS THAT A CONTRACTOR MAY SEEK PAYMENT FOR WORK PERFORMED OUTSIDE A CONTRACT WITHOUT FIRST SEEKING A WRITTEN REFORMATION OF THE CONTRACT.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The decision of the Fifth District expressly and directly conflicts with decisions from the Second and First Districts. In Southern Roadbuilders, Inc. v. Lee County, 495 So. 2d 189 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986), rev. denied, 504 So. 2d 768 (Fla. 1987), the Second District determined that the doctrine of sovereign immunity has not been waived with respect to the enforcement of implied covenants of an express written contract. And, in Phillips & Jordan, Inc. v. Dep't of Transportation, 602 So. 2d 1310 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), the First District held that a contractor's claim for "extras" was barred where the contract as required by the express terms of the contract. Conversely, in County of Brevard v. Miorelli Engineering, Inc., So. 2d (Fla. 5th DCA 1996), the Fifth District held the doctrine of sovereign immunity has been waived

with respect to the enforcement of implied covenants of an express written contract. Moreover, the Fifth District allowed a claim for extras despite an express term of the contract that required work performed outside the contract to be based upon a written modification of the contract.

Not only does the Fifth District's decision expressly conflict with the decisions from other District's, it also adversely impacts vital fiscal and public policies affecting citizens of this state. This Court has recognized that contract claims, founded upon an express written contract, are not subject to sovereign immunity. This conclusion is premised upon the rational that the government empowers its agencies to enter into contracts. It would be unfair for the party who entered into a valid contract with the state to have no remedy for breach of this agreement by the state.

It is one issue for our State to be liable for obligations it owed to a party and breached under a valid and binding contract. It is another issue for a party to argue that the State is liable for breach of a contract that does not even exist. To protect the State from such meritless claims, as well as to ensure fiscal predictability, courts require the existence of an express written contract before there can be any waiver of sovereign immunity. If the rule were otherwise, parties could freely raid the State's treasury by the mere allegation of a verbal contract.

The State's day-to-day operations should not be disrupted by claims which neither the State, nor the party allegedly contracting with the State, thought important enough to reduce to writing. The decision of the Fifth District directly contravenes this policy.

This Court should, therefore, exercise its discretion and review this case on the merits.

ARGUMENT

I. AN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT EXISTS BETWEEN THE FIFTH AND SECOND DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL BECAUSE THE FORMER HOLDS THAT THE DOCTRINE OF SOVEREIGN YTINUMMI HAS BEEN WAIVED RESPECT TO **ENFORCEMENT** OF THE IMPLIED COVENANTS OF AN EXPRESS WRITTEN CONTRACT.

Under Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Fla. Const., (1980), this Court may exercise its discretionary jurisdiction where an appellate decision expressly and directly conflicts with a decision from another Florida appellate court. That conflict must be expressed and contained within the written rule announced by the court.

Jenkins v. State, 385 So. 2d 1356 (Fla. 1980); Dodi Publishing Company v. Editorial America, S.A., 385 So. 2d 1369 (Fla. 1980).

This Court has recognized two situations which authorize the invocation of its conflict jurisdiction. The first circumstance is when the decision announces a rule of law which conflicts with the rule previously announced by another appellate court. The second is when there has been an application of a rule of law to produce a different result in a case which involves substantially the same controlling facts as a prior case decided by another appellate Nielson v. City of Sarasota, 117 So. 2d 731, 734 (Fla. court. 1960). In this case, the decision of the Fifth District expressly and directly conflicts with a decision from the Second District because the Fifth District's decision announces a rule of law that conflicts with a previously pronounced Second District rule of law. To fully comprehend the basis of the conflict, one must first examine the underlying policy of the sovereign immunity doctrine and its exceptions. Under this doctrine, the state is immune from claims except to the extent immunity is waived pursuant to §768.28, Fla. Stat. Contract claims are not expressly waived under the statute. Nonetheless, this Court has concluded that claims against the state based upon an express written contract are not barred by the sovereign immunity doctrine. This Court noted in Pan Am that sovereign immunity is the rule in Florida, rather than the exception, and is firmly rooted in our state constitution. The Pan Am court specifically limited its implied waiver of sovereign immunity to suits on express written contracts.

This restriction was obviously intended to serve the fundamental policy underlying sovereign immunity: protection of the public treasury. By limiting governmental liability to breaches of express written contractual obligations, courts provide fiscal certainty and predictability to governmental bodies. At the same time, parties dealing with governmental bodies are adequately protected because they are free to refuse additional work in the absence of a written contract or authorization.

This public policy was subsequently followed by the Second District, in Southern Roadbuilders v. Lee County, 495 So. 2d 189 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986). In Southern Roadbuilders, the court held that a contractor, who performed alleged extra work without first obtaining a written change order, was unentitled to pursue his action because the claim for extras was barred by sovereign immunity. The Second District reasoned that the claim for extras was not founded upon express written contracts and, therefore, was protected by sovereign immunity.

Other District Courts of Appeal have rejected the analysis of Southern Roadbuilders. See, e.g., Champagne-Webber, Inc. v. City of Fort Lauderdale, 519 So. 2d 696 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). In its June 28, 1996 opinion in this appeal, the Fifth District adopted the rationale of Champagne-Webber - rejecting the Southern Roadbuilder rule of law - and held that implied covenants of an express written contract are not barred by sovereign immunity.

In addition to conflict with the Second District, the Fifth District's decision conflicts with vital public policy. Pan Am's limitation of liability to breach of express written contractual obligations authorized by the legislature requires parties dealing with a county to contract for the payment of public monies as required by law. To permit recovery on oral contracts allegedly made by some lesser, unnamed county official would thwart this policy. Such unilateral obligation of funds by vendors could wreak havoc upon public budgets and budgeting and create deficits in the budgets of public bodies in violation of Florida's Anti-Deficiency Act. Both from a legal and public policy standpoint, this Court should exercise its discretion to entertain jurisdiction of this matter.

II. AN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT EXISTS BETWEEN THE FIFTH AND FIRST DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL BECAUSE THE FORMER HOLD THAT A CONTRACTOR MAY SEEK PAYMENT FOR WORK PERFORMED OUTSIDE A CONTRACT WITHOUT FIRST SEEKING A WRITTEN REFORMATION OF THE CONTRACT.

The Fifth District's opinion additionally expressly conflicts with Phillips & Jordan, Inc. v. Dept. of Transportation, 602 So. 2d 1310 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). In Phillips & Jordan, a contractor sued the State for extra work in performing certain road clearing. The

extra work had not been authorized by a written change order to the contract, and the contract required that all extra work be authorized by written change orders. In granting summary judgment on behalf of the state and against the contractor, the First District held that the contractor's claim was barred, not by sovereign immunity, but by the terms of the express contract itself. In doing so, the court stated:

could have sought Appellant authorization for payment for such work, in effect, a reformation of the contract, under a contractual provision providing for such a reformation where it appears necessary. fact, under the terms of the contract, appellant is precluded from seeking payment for work performed outside the contractual specifications without first seeking a written reformation of the contract. Therefore, appellant's claim is barred by the express terms of the contract.

Id. at 1313. The First District also noted that there were no implied conditions which arose from such contractual terms which would justify payment. Citing to the exception set forth in Champagne-Webber, the court held that the trial court had properly concluded that the contractor's claim for extra work was outside both the terms of the express contract and any implied conditions of that contract. Id. at 1313, n.2.

Similarly, the underlying written contract between MEI and the County required written change orders for all alleged extra work; MEI did not obtain written change orders prior to performing the extra work; and MEI made a claim, subsequent to the completion of the extra work, for additional compensation. (A.1) On almost identical facts, the First District in Phillips & Jordan concluded that the Champagne-Webber exception had no application and that the

claims were in fact barred by the terms of the express contract itself. The Fifth District's different result on substantially the same controlling facts, creates express conflict under the principle enunciated in <u>Nielson</u>, <u>supra</u>.

CONCLUSION

The Fifth District's decision allows this Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to hear this case on the merits. The decision expressly and directly conflicts with a rule of law announced by the Second District and expressly and directly conflicts with the First District's application of a rule of law to substantially similar facts. The ramifications of the Fifth District's decision are far reaching and provide more than ample justification for this Court to exercise its discretion and review this matter. This Court should, therefore, exercise that discretion and hear this case.