075

IN THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF FLORIDA
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

1976
JAN 14 1976
CLERK OF COURT

COUNTY OF BREVARD, a Political
subdivision of the State of
Florida,)

Petitioner,)

Case No. : 88,842

v.)

MIORELLI ENGINEERING, INC., and
HARTFORD FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY,)

Respondents.)

:
:
:

RESPONSE TO BRIEF OF JURISDICTION
BY RESPONDENT, MIORELLI ENGINEERING, INC.

Dana G. Toole
Attorney at Law
Florida Bar No. 437093
608 West Horatio Street
Suite B
Tampa, FL 33606
(813)251-5454
Attorney for Respondent
Miorelli Engineering, Inc.

SUMMARY OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On January 5, 1993, MEI contracted with the COUNTY to construct a spring training facility for the Florida Marlins baseball franchise. Respondent, HARTFORD FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY ("HARTFORD"), was surety for MEI. Various disputes arose between MEI and the COUNTY and resulted in an action by MEI against the COUNTY in a lower court. As a portion of this action, MEI asserted claims for extra work resulting from the allegations of breach of implied conditions of the expressed contract between the parties.

Petitioner, COUNTY, filed a Motion for Summary Judgment asserting that those claims were barred by virtue of the theory of sovereign immunity. The lower court denied this motion and pursuant to Department of Transportation v. Wallis, 20 FLW D1823 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995), the COUNTY filed an appeal on the Non-Final Order Denying Petitioner's Motion for Summary Judgment. However, it should be noted that Wallis is no longer good law. See Department of Education v. Roe, 21 FLW 5341.1 (Fla. July 18, 1996).

The Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed the decision of the trial court. The Fifth District noted that the COUNTY in this instance was alleged to have waived the change order requirements contained in the contract documents and held that the contract claims based upon breach of implied covenants of good faith and fair dealing should not be barred by sovereign immunity.

Thereafter, Petitioner filed a motion with the Fifth District Court of **Appeal** requesting that the appellate court certify a

conflict between its decision and the decision of another district.
This motion was denied by the Fifth District Court of Appeal.

On August 19, 1996, the COUNTY served its Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court asserting that the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal expressly and directly conflicts with the Second District's decision of another district court of appeal on the same question of law.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fifth District Court of Appeal found that the claims asserted in a lower court were based upon an express agreement, which included implied conditions as in all contracts. There was no express or direct conflict stated in the opinion by the Fifth District of Appeal at variance with the decision in Southern Road Builders, Inc. v. Lee County, 495 So.2d 189 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986), or the First District's opinion in Phillips and Jordan v. Department of Transportation, 602 So.2d 1310 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). This Court should not accept jurisdiction as to this cause.

ARGUMENT

- I. DOES THE OPINION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, HOLDING THAT CONTRACT CLAIMS BASED ON BREACH OF THE IMPLIED COVENANTS OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING SHOULD NOT BE BARRED BY SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY, DIRECTLY AND EXPRESSLY CONFLICT WITH THE CASE OF SOUTHERN ROAD BUILDERS, INC. V. LEE COUNTY, 495 SO.2D 189 (FLA. 2D DCA 1986), REV. DEN. 405 SO.2D 768 (FLA. 1987)?

1. Rule 9.030(a)(2)(iv), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, provides that the Supreme Court may, in its discretion, accept jurisdiction for review of decisions that "expressly and directly conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal or the Supreme Court on the same question of law."

2. Petitioner's position is that the opinion of the Fifth District Court below "directly and expressly" conflicts with the decision in Southern Road Builders, Inc. v. Lee County, supra. For that reason, Petitioner alleges a conflict is created from which the Supreme Court should take jurisdiction and render a decision.

3. However, Petitioner's position is unfounded and, in fact, the "conflict" asserted by Petitioner does not exist. **The** holding in the Fifth District Court of Appeal's opinion is that:

"Contract claims based upon the breach of implied covenants of good faith and fair dealing should not be barred by sovereign immunity." (Appendix, page 5)

The Fifth District Court of Appeal adopted the view in Champagne-Webber vs. City of Ft. Lauderdale, 519 So.2d 696 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988). Further, implicit within the Court's ruling is that **the** COUNTY waived written change orders by directing **changes** to the project without following its own formalities. (Appendix, Page 4)

Neither of the above points are mentioned in the Southern Roadbuilder's, decision, and no part of the Second District's opinion discusses or abrogates the implied covenants of good faith and fair dealing which are contained in all contracts. See 1 S Williston, A Treatise on the Law of Contracts, Section 669 (3d ed. 1961); and Bromer v. Florida Power and Light Co., 45 So.2d 658 (1950).

4. Similarly, no effort was made in Southern Roadbuilders to displace or alter the long standing principle that a party may - through its actions - waive or be estopped from asserting a contractual change order requirement. See Interamerican Engineers and Constructors Corp. v. Palm Beach County Housing Authority, 629 So.2d 879 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993), rev. den. 639 So.2d 980 (Fla. 1994); Acquisition Corp. v. American Cast Iron Pipe Co., 543 So.2d 878 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989); and Pan-American Engineering v. Poncho's Construction Co., 387 So.2d 1052 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980).

5. Indeed, Southern Roadbuilders sets forth an entirely separate suggestion based upon the theory that the lack of a properly executed written agreement bars recovery. Southern Roadbuilders does not deal with the issue of the breach of an implied obligation of a contract, nor does it deal with the issue of waiver of contract provisions as to extra work. These latter two issues are the essence of the Miorelli holding by the Fifth District Court of Appeal.

6. **As** a result, Petitioner's claim and argument for the jurisdiction of this Court must fail as there is no express, nor

direct, conflict upon the critical issues of the Fifth District Court's opinion in Miorelli and the issues ruled upon by the Second District in Southern Roadbuilders.

7. In passing, Respondent would note that this Court has previously denied review upon the identical issue presented by Petitioner in the case of Interamerican Engineers and Constructors Corp. v. Palm Beach County Housing Authority, 629 So.2d 879 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993), rev. den. 639 So.2d 980 (Fla. 1994), (cited by the Fifth District Court of Appeal, Appendix, page 4).

II. DOES THE OPINION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, HOLDING THAT CONTRACT CLAIMS BASED UPON BREACH OF THE IMPLIED COVENANTS OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING SHOULD NOT BE BARRED BY SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY, DIRECTLY AND EXPRESSLY CONFLICT WITH THE CASE OF PHILLIPS AND JORDAN, INC. vs. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, 602 SO.2d 1310 (FLA. 1ST DCA 1992)?

8. In addition to the foregoing, the Petitioner has also attempted to make the argument that the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal expressly and directly conflicts with the opinion in Phillips and Jordan, Inc. vs. Department of Transportation, 602 So.2d 1310 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). Petitioner's position is unfounded and is specifically rejected within the opinion of Phillips and Jordan, Inc., supra.

9. Contrary to Petitioner's view, the Phillips and Jordan, Inc. case is routinely cited as being in accord with Champagne-Webber, supra, not at variance with it. In particular, Respondent would call the Court's attention to Footnote 2 of Phillips and Jordan, Inc., which qualifies its decision as follows:

Furthermore, we do not construe the trial court's order to bar appellant's claim under

the doctrine of sovereign immunity because it is based on an implied covenant of the contract rather than an expressed term of the contract. Such a view would be erroneous. See Champagne-Webber, Inc. vs. City of Ft. Lauderdale, 519 So.2d 696 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988). Rather, we construe the trial court's order to bar appellant's claim because it is outside both the express and implied conditions of the contract. Page 1313 (emphasis added)

10. Based upon the foregoing, it would appear that Phillips and Jordan, Inc., supra, is in accord with Champagne-Webber, Interamerican, and with the Fifth District Court of Appeal's determination below. That being the case, there is no conflict.

III. DOES THIS COURT HAVE JURISDICTION TO ACCEPT DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION UPON A CLAIM IN WHICH AN APPELLATE COURT DECISION "CONFLICTS" WITH VITAL PUBLIC POLICY?

11. Finally, Respondent MEI feels compelled to respond to portions of the **brief** of Petitioner which appear to request this Court to accept jurisdiction upon a claim that "the Fifth District's decision conflicts with vital public policy." (See Summary of the Argument, Petitioner's Brief on Jurisdiction, Page 4; Argument on Point I, Page 7.)

12. This Court's jurisdiction is set forth in Article V, Section 111, Florida Constitution 1980, as reflected in Rule 9.030(a), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. There is no grant of authority within the Constitution or within the Rules for this Court to hear an interlocutory appeal or, for that matter, a final appeal upon discretionary grounds or otherwise based upon a "conflict with public policy."

13. Indeed, by rearguing the "public policy" arguments which were advanced by the COUNTY before the Fifth District - and which were ruled upon by that Court - the COUNTY apparently seeks to reargue the merits of this matter through its jurisdictional brief. This is improper. See Rule 9.120(d), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.